Queens Park Conservation Area Appraisal

Adopted March 2006
1  Introduction

1.1 The Queen’s Park Conservation Area was designated in April 2002 and it covers an area of about 10 ha (24.9 acres) to the south and west of the main town centre.  The Conservation Area consists of three distinct areas.  At its heart is the historic Queen’s Park, to the east of the Park is Ward’s End, a former industrial, commercial and residential area dating back to the Georgian period, while to the west is a small residential area of Edwardian terraced houses.

1.2 Given its historical development the Conservation Area contains many notable buildings, principally from the late Victorian and Edwardian periods, including the Congregational Chapel (United Reform Church), public library, public baths (now a museum), the Carillon War Memorial, in addition to the many private dwellings, shops and offices.  

1.3 The purpose of this appraisal is to examine the historical development of the Area and to describe its present appearance in order to assess the special architectural and historic interest of the Queen’s Park Conservation Area. The appraisal will be used to inform the consideration of development proposals within the area.

2  Planning Context

2.1 A conservation area is an area of special architectural or historic interest whose character or appearance should be preserved or enhanced. In making decisions on potential development within a conservation area, the Council is required to ‘pay attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area’. Permission will not be granted for proposals that are likely to harm the character or appearance of a conservation area. Sections 69 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

2.2 Planning Policy Guidance Note 15: Planning and the Historic Environment says that special attention should be paid when considering proposals for development in a conservation area. 

2.3 The Regional Spatial Strategy for the East Midlands published in March 2005 advises local authorities to develop strategies that avoid damage to the region’s cultural assets. Policy 27: Protecting and Enhancing The Region’s Natural and Cultural Assets.

2.4 The Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Structure Plan 1996 to 2016 published in December 2004 seeks to identify, protect, preserve and enhance areas, sites, buildings and settings of historic or architectural interest or archaeological importance. Development within conservation areas should preserve or enhance their character and appearance.  Environment Policy 2: Sites and Buildings of Historic Architectural and Archaeological Interest.

2.5 The Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 1991 – 2006 adopted in January 2004 seeks to ensure that new development in conservation areas preserves or enhances the character and appearance of the area. Policy EV/10.

3  Summary of Special Interest 

3.1 Whilst the origins of built development in the Conservation Area can be traced back to at least the Georgian period, the area is largely a product of the rapid expansion of Loughborough during the late Victorian and Edwardian periods, combining displays of civic pride and development with the practicality of providing more houses for the town’s expanding population.  The collection of buildings from this period of rapid development has not significantly altered for the past 100 years.

3.2 The earliest part to be developed was the area either side of Ward’s End.  This area was established by 1837 as a tightly packed jumble of buildings, particularly in the areas behind the frontage buildings, for residential, commercial and industrial purposes.  As a result, there are a number of historic buildings in this area and two buildings in particular feature on the list of buildings of local interest.  The Mill Building off Devonshire Lane, which was originally a textile mill dating from 1825, and No 18 Devonshire Square (adjoins No 1 Ward’s End), built as shops and offices in the later half of the nineteenth century.

3.3 Despite these early origins, the western part of the area lay largely undeveloped until the late nineteenth century and, as a consequence, the majority of the existing building stock in the area dates from between 1894 and 1915.  The surviving historic fabric typifies the nature of Victorian and Edwardian speculative development as various plots of land were sold off to separate builders allowing them to build individual groups (often pairs) of terraced houses, displaying a variety of styles to add visual interest to the overall uniformity of the terraced streets.

3.4 Victorian and Edwardian philanthropy and civic pride is reflected in the Conservation Area with the purchase of land for Queen’s Park and the erection of two grand civic buildings, the Queen’s Hall, now a museum but originally built as public baths, and the Carnegie Library.  A later significant addition to the scene was the Carillon Tower, a war memorial situated in the centre of Queen’s Park that is now Grade II listed and provides a landmark for the whole town.

LOCATION AND SETTING

4  Location and Context

4.1 Queen’s Park Conservation Area is located in the centre of Loughborough immediately to the south and west of the medieval and Georgian town, which was principally established around All Saints Church and the market place which was built on the east bank of the Woodbrook.  

4.2 The Area now forms an integral part of Loughborough’s inner urban area with no well defined or physical boundaries to distinguish it from the surrounding areas.  The most distinct boundary runs along the southern edge of the Park to Brown’s Lane, which was originally a rural lane but is now a major distributor road for traffic around the town centre.

5  General Character

5.1 The Conservation Area occupies an area of relatively flat land largely to the west of the Woodbrook.  The development and form of the area is largely the result of the relatively regular grid of streets laid out by the Victorians based on the existing land holdings of the time.  The Area now has a typical urban setting, with relatively close knit areas of built development, such as around Ward’s End and the terraced streets off Frederick Street.  These areas are very much in contrast to the historic landscape that is Queen’s Park, which offers open space and a mature landscape for the enjoyment of all in the centre of the town. 

5.2 Given that the Area was developed over a relatively short period of time, there is a broad uniformity in the style and appearance of these buildings, largely of period Edwardian terraced properties.  The buildings in the area are generally on a small scale with the residential and commercial properties normally of two storeys, although there are some three and four storey properties on Ward’s End, and built on relatively narrow plots in the context of terraced streets.  The more grand civic and public buildings, whilst having a greater presence in the street scene, are modest in scale and do not dominate the surrounding buildings.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

6  Origins and Development

6.1 Whilst the origins of development in the Conservation Area can be traced back to the Georgian period, it was not until the turn of twentieth century that the main development of the Area took place, as a combination of civic development with the provision of new housing.

6.2 An early street map published in 1837 shows Brown's Lane (which now defines the southern limit of the Conservation Area) as a rural lane lined by trees with open fields (orchards and paddocks principally in the ownership of Mrs. Palmer or Mr. Atherstone) covering most of the Conservation Area.

6.3 The exception to this was Ward’s End, which by this time had already been developed by a relatively open complex of buildings, typically narrow but deep plots extending back either to the Woodbrook or to Woodgate, along one of the principal routes into the Market Place.  Two public houses are shown on the map fronting Ward’s End, namely the Wheatsheaf (now the Orange Tree) and the Hare and Hounds (later to become The Foresters).  On the east side of Ward’s End there is evidence of a housing court in the narrow linear block that runs between Ward’s End and Woodgate, some of these buildings appear to still survive. 

6.4 The map also shows New Street lined on either side by development built on narrow plots.  Whilst these buildings have been demolished as result of slum clearance, the depth of the plots is still evident from the former public toilets and ticketing office that now stand alongside New Street.

6.5 Welsh Hill (now Bedford Square) stands as an open square off Ward’s End and is already a focus for a number of different streets (such as Woodgate and two unnamed roads later to become Southfields Road).

6.6 The map also shows the encroachment into the square of a small island block of two buildings, these may originally have been temporary buildings that over time became more permanent.  This island plot is still occupied today by two commercial properties.

6.7 On the land to the west of the Woodbrook are two buildings of note.  The first, Island House, appears as a large detached property and to the south of it there appears to be a mill building, although not notated as such on the map, this building is accessed by Mill Hill, off Mill Street (now Market Street) and appears to be served by a mill race from the Woodbrook.

6.8 Over the following 50 years there were very few major changes within the Conservation Area but Loughborough had grown and towards the end of nineteenth century, White’s Directory of 1877 described Loughborough as a thriving and rapidly expanding market and manufacturing town with new streets and building operations.  The culmination of this growth was the granting of a town charter of incorporation in September 1888 creating the Borough of Loughborough and the introduction of a municipal government. 

6.9 Despite this growth the Ordnance Survey Plan of 1884 shows very little change within the Conservation Area.  The most obvious change was the increasing density of buildings off Ward’s End, particularly the housing courts.  Court E is notated between Ward’s End and Woodgate, the entrance adjacent to George Hill’s wine shop is still evident, and other housing courts are shown on the opposite side of Ward’s End, the entrance to Court C is still evident over the door adjacent to the Orange Tree.  The map also shows the emergence of two industrial complexes, both associated with the hosiery industry found elsewhere in Loughborough and no doubt drawn to their sites to use water from the Woodbrook.  The Bleach Works extended into the open land on the west side of the Woodbrook and the Dye Works was built at the head of Devonshire Square. 

6.10 Bedford Square has now been formally named as such and its focus for the surrounding streets more formally defined.  On the northern side of the Square, the island site appears more intensely developed and a girls’ school has been built behind it, this building still survives and is occupied by a furniture shop.  A boys’ school was built on the opposite side of Ward’s End on the present day site of John Storer House, which is a well used community building and, although lying outside of the Conservation Area, its landscape setting makes an attractive contribution to this part of the Conservation Area.

6.11 Having seen very little change for the previous 50 years, the next 30 years sees the open land to the west of the Woodbrook radically transformed into the built-up Conservation Area that survives today.

6.12 By the time of the 1903 Ordnance Survey map, Granby Street and Packe Street had been laid out, running east-west either side of Island House, and Frederick Street and William Street encroach into the Area from Ashby Road.  The as yet unnamed Caldwell and Heathcoat Streets had also been laid out.

6.13 The most notable additions however are the establishment of Queen’s Park to the south of Island House, on land that was originally its garden, and the construction of a Public Baths at the head of Granby Street.  (A more detailed history of Queen’s Park is considered in the following section.)

6.14 By the 1915 Ordnance Survey Plan the area had been transformed.  Ward’s End had seen little obvious change other than the removal of the buildings along New Street and the replacement of the Bleach Works with the Corporation Yard (now the extended public car park).  In the rest of the area, Queen’s Park had been extended to Brown’s Lane and beyond that the Area had been almost completely developed for new housing.  On Granby Street, Island House was no longer an isolated building but stood within a row of newly built houses and adjacent to the Carnegie Library (dated 1905). To the west of the Park terraced houses had been built along Frederick Street and William Street and these were linked by Arthur Street, Curzon Street, Heathcoat Street and Caldwell Street.  These houses all still survive.

6.15 A further public building, the Congregational Chapel (dated 1908), now the United Reform Church, was also built on Frederick Street between Curzon Street and Heathcoat Street.

6.16 The historic development of the Area was completed in the inter war years with the construction of the Carillon War Memorial and the Loughborough College building (dated 1935) at the entrance to Packe Street.  The College building was part of the general expansion and development of the College undertaken by Herbert Schofield, the Principal of Loughborough College from 1915 to 1950, and which ultimately led to the formation of Loughborough University. 

6.17 The most recent significant changes have been the construction of the new library building in the mid-sixties and the construction of Brown’s Lane as a distributor route for cars around the town centre in the mid-seventies.

7  History of Queen’s Park

7.1 The basic structure of Queen’s Park was developed between 1899 and 1928. It covers an area of about 4 hectares (10 acres).

7.2 The creation of the park was prompted by Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee in June 1897.  To celebrate the Jubilee the town had already been promised a new public baths by Joseph Griggs, a local businessman and the first Mayor of the Borough, and a further £1500 was raised by public subscriptions, sufficient for the Corporation to purchase Island House and its gardens, about 1.6 hectares (4 acres) of land to the south of Granby Street. 

7.3 The opening ceremony for the new park took place on 22 June 1899, two years after the Diamond Jubilee.  The ceremony included the planting of an English oak sapling by the Mayoress, Mrs Huram Coltman.  The Loughborough Monitor and News of Thursday 24 June 1899, noted that this was a hurriedly arranged ceremony as the sapling had been presented only a few days earlier by a local florist who had grown it from an acorn planted in September 1888 to mark the incorporation of the Borough of Loughborough. 

7.4 In his opening speech Councillor Hanford is reported as saying that “the special advantage of the park would fall to the artisan people of Loughborough, the working classes.  They would gain a larger advantage if they got the park, there would be a wide walk around it and a good number of seats.  As commemorative projects they would have in Loughborough public baths so that they could wash and be clean, a drill hall where young people could be drilled and be strong and healthy and a public park in which the strong might find recreation and those who were convalescent take their ease”.

7.5 Kelly’s Directory of 1908 notes that the grounds were well laid out by the Corporation and …‘contain fine trees and a small lake, over which there is a rustic bridge.  In the centre there is a covered bandstand…’. The 1904 Ordnance Survey plan shows the basic layout of the Park, with two entrances from Granby Street and the Picturesque manner of its lay out, having a fairly simple tree-lined, figure-of-eight walk with an ornamental pool which was crossed at the time by a timber rustic bridge.

7.6 To mark the coronation of King Edward VII in August 1902 a bandstand was presented to the Park by Councillor W H Whootton.  Pictorial evidence from September 1904 shows an ornate bandstand made of cast and wrought iron, situated in the centre of the Park.

7.7 On 21 June 1905 the Carnegie Free Library was opened on a site directly opposite the Park, further concentrating the civic functions of recreation and learning within this part of the town.  An early picture taken of the Library from within the Park shows the decorative bow-top iron railings and gate to Granby Street, which are still in place.

7.8 Between 1905 and 1907 the original Park was extended as a result of the purchase of 2.4 hectares (6 acres) of land from the adjoining dye works.  The development of this extended Park included the digging out of a second ornamental lake, with a small island at its centre.  The soil from the lake was then used to create a raised table for use as the bowling green.

7.9 The Ordnance Survey plan of 1915 shows that the Park extension had also been laid out in a Picturesque manner having a rough figure-of-eight circuit of paths lined by trees and the bandstand relocated to the centre of the Park standing within a large circular open space.  The plan also shows a tennis ground towards the southern boundary of the Park and two bowling greens.

7.10 Following the First World War, the Carillon War Memorial was constructed to commemorate the Loughborough men killed in the war.  The foundation stone for the memorial was laid on 22 January 1922 and the building opened on 22 July 1923.  The Carillon, which marks the last significant change to the basic structure of the Park, is built in a Classical style of red brick on a Portland stone base about 8.5 metres (28 feet) square and surmounted by a copper bell storey carrying an octagonal parapet and lantern. The Tower has a full height of 46 metres (151 feet).  The belfry contains 47 bells which were cast at Taylor's Bell Foundry in Loughborough at a cost of £7000 raised from public subscriptions.

7.11 Four straight pathways radiating out from the tower were laid out in contrast to the informal layout of the original Park.  The formality of the memorial was further increased by the construction of a new gateway to New Street at the end of the longest axis from the Carillon.  In 1928 a stone balustrade was erected around the tower and the original timber rustic bridges were replaced by new stone ornamental bridges to match the balustrade.  

7.12  In the early 1960's a playground was laid out near the Carillon and in 1968 a second play area was built besides the Wards End entrance to the Park.
7.13  In the 1980's a lake with an island was removed and replaced with the present much narrower linear watercourse. The island in the former lake offered a refuge for waterfowl which largely disappeared from the park with the change. The former lake was also fully fenced, but this was also removed when the changes took place. At the same time the aviaries were moved from the side of the lake to their present position and were replaced by the figure of the Swan and the small maze that are there today. These changes were very unpopular when introduced.

8  Significance of Queen’s Park
8.1 Queen’s Park is a good example of a small Victorian park, important for its Picturesque layout and design, its plants and trees, and its function and the context in which it was developed.

8.2 The Park provides an extensive area of mature and open landscaping in a relatively self-contained space with well defined boundaries.  It is enclosed by the buildings on Ward’s End and Frederick Street and has long open boundaries to Granby Street, defined by the original bow topped railings, and to Brown’s Lane, defined by hedgerows and rustic wooden fencing.  

8.3 Queen’s Park was an open display of civic pride following the Incorporation of the Borough but it was also intended to improve the education and morals of the town’s working classes.  The theme of social improvement, evident in the opening speech which stressed that the main beneficiaries of the Park would be the working classes, was reinforced by the building of the public baths and the Carnegie Library beside the Park, and the bandstand within it. Bandstands were seen as having a reforming potential.  

8.4 Victorian parks were principally conceived for a passive use and whilst there was no provision for any sports in the original Park, the extended Queen’s Park included two bowling greens, of which one survives and a tennis ground, which has now been removed.  The Park has therefore been an important leisure and recreation resource for the town since its inception and is widely used today both formally, for concerts at the bandstand and from the Carillon, and informally, for general recreation, summer picnics and open air events. 

8.5 The layout and design of the Park needs to be recognised and retained.  In particular the formal layout of the paths around the Carillon that contrast with the Picturesque layout of the earlier Park.  Most of the paths are defined by avenues of trees, which make a significant contribution to the character of the Park by providing a setting for the buildings, shade for the paths and defining the open spaces.

8.6 The original gates and iron railings along the Granby Street frontage and at the Brown’s Lane entrance are still in place. They help to define the Victorian character of the Park and the overall street scene.  The Brown’s Lane boundary is defined by a dense hedgerow and a rustic wooden fence, which appears to be the original fence built when the Park was extended as it is similar in design to the Park’s original rustic bridges.

8.7 Today, Queens Park is a major feature of Loughborough. The Carillon Tower is a symbol of the town. Views of the Park, the tower, the bandstand, the floral displays and the trees in spring and summer and the view from the park to the Carnegie Library all figure in picture postcards. The Park is a place for tourists and for local people to relax in. It is well used for festivals and commemorations. The Charnwood Museum as a place of education and for exhibitions is an attraction for many people.
SPATIAL ANALYSIS

9  Key Views and Vistas 

9.1 The principal views and vistas within the Conservation Area are normally limited and restricted.

9.2 Whilst Queen’s Park is a large area of open space, there are very few long views into or out of the Park.  Potential long views are restricted by the surrounding buildings with the principal views often being oblique views from Granby Street and Brown’s Lane.  However, one of the main views into the Park is along New Street which provides a principal view and formal ceremonial route directed towards the Carillon.  Most of the views from within the Park are restricted by mature trees and shrubbery.  These help to screen the backs of the buildings on Frederick Street and Ward’s End but there are attractive glimpsed views through the trees of the Granby Street frontage, particularly of the Carnegie Library building and the neighbouring terraced properties.

9.3 The Carillon Tower is a key landmark because of its significance as a war memorial and because of its height.  The top of the Tower can be seen from a wide area and beyond the boundaries of the town. Within the Conservation Area, there is a particularly dramatic view of the Tower along Arthur Street, and there are important, often glimpsed views, of the Tower from Brown’s Lane and Granby Street.

9.4 Otherwise the views within the adjoining terraced streets are defined by the prevailing grid of streets which offer tight linear views, framed by the adjoining buildings and usually terminated by buildings that lie inside or beyond the Conservation Area.  The views along Arthur Street, Curzon Street, Heathcoat Street and Caldwell Street tend to end with buildings on William Street or Frederick Street.

9.5 Exceptions to this are the long views along Frederick Street and William Street.  Frederick Street has a distinctive and abrupt curvature that offers a developing and changing aspect.  For most of its length, the width of Frederick Street is constrained by the frontage properties. The Congregational Chapel and its tower and the Loughborough College building act as distinct visual markers, attracting and deflecting the views along the developing street scene.  At its northern extreme, in front of the College building, the road begins to open out and the corner of Sainsbury’s becomes an important focal point, outside of the Conservation Area but terminating the view.

9.6 In contrast, the view along William Street offers a long and unrelenting vista to the south that terminates in the far distance.

CHARACTER ANALYSIS

10  Definition of Character Areas

10.1 As already described the Area has three distinctive character or sub areas.  Firstly, the area around Ward’s End was the first area to be developed and it therefore contains the oldest buildings, which are different in character from the later Edwardian buildings, and has a distinctly commercial character in the scale and uses of the buildings.  Secondly, there is the Queen’s Park, which is an historic landscape and offers a large area of open space at the heart of the Conservation Area.  Finally, a third area is the terraced Edwardian housing that lies principally between Frederick Street and William Street.

11  Former Uses of the Buildings

11.1 The oldest part of the Conservation Area around Ward’s End was developed for a variety of uses, commercial, industrial and residential, in small housing courts behind the main frontage buildings.  Other uses indicated on the early plans are two public houses and a girls’ school.  The main industrial uses have now gone and the area is principally a shopping and leisure use area, with the continued existence of two public houses, of which one, the Orange Tree, appears to survive in its original building.  Whilst the residential housing courts have been demolished (though the entrances to them are still evident) some terraced housing still remains on Woodgate and the girls’ school building still stands but is now occupied by a shop.

11.2 With the exception of Queen’s Park, the remainder of the Conservation Area was largely developed for housing in the Edwardian period and these houses are still primarily residential in use. Although the original houses built on Granby Street and those at the upper end of Frederick Street have been taken over by offices, no doubt due to their proximity to the town centre.

12  Key Buildings within the Area

12.1 Government policy as set out in PPG15 states that there should be a presumption in favour of retaining buildings that make a positive contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area.  In addition to the Grade II listed Carillon Tower, there are a number of individual landmark buildings that make a significant contribution to the Conservation Area because of their architectural and historical interest.

12.2 The Orange Tree public house stands close to the entrance of the Conservation Area at the upper end of Ward’s End. The building stands within a terrace of similar three storey buildings that make an attractive backdrop to Bedford Square.  The principal feature of the building is its first and second floor windows, which are the original multi-pane horizontal sliding sash windows that reflect the early age of the building.  It is also of some historical interest as the 1837 street map of Loughborough indicates that there was a public house in this location at that time and it is therefore likely that this building has been in use as a public house for over 170 years.

12.3 Along Ward’s End, at its corner with Devonshire Lane, is a prominent late nineteenth century building in use as a shop and offices.  The building has three storeys to the front with a two storey annexe behind, which is of a similar date but not part of the original building.  It is constructed in red brick with contrasting blue and yellow brick string courses and repetitive yellow brick ‘cross’ motifs under the deep overhanging cornice.  The frontage building also has a prominent hipped slate roof.  This is an important landmark building at the head of Devonshire Square and the distinctive polychromatic brickwork and unusual margin pane sash windows add to its visual and architectural interest.

12.4 Adjacent to this building on Devonshire Lane is part of the former dye works, one of earliest and largest buildings in the Conservation Area at four storeys.  The dye works are shown on the 1837 street map and appear to have been part of a larger complex, now demolished, that extended along Devonshire Square.  The building appears to have two distinct parts, the main frontage to Devonshire Lane, which is shown on the 1837 street map and an extension across the back, built alongside the Woodbrook with its gable to the street.  Both buildings are constructed in red brick with the main façade to Devonshire Lane laid in an English bond (alternating courses of stretchers and headers) while the rear part is laid in a Flemish Garden Wall bond (three stretchers between a pair of headers).  Whilst the windows have been replaced by upvc windows, the shallow arched openings have been retained, and the original loading bay doors in the gable end infilled, this is still a significant early building in the Area and a remnant of its industrial heritage.

12.5 On the opposite side of the Park from the former dye works stands the Queen’s Hall, which was opened as a public baths in August 1897 and is now a museum.  The building is constructed of red brick with slate roofs and terracotta is used to embellish the building.  In particular in the blocked architraving around the prominent semi-circular windows and the capping and finials to the gables.  The building has an ecclesiastical form with the main building flanked by lean-to aisles and capped by a narrow clearstory that let light into the main bathing hall. 

12.6 The Carnegie Library stands on the opposite side of Granby Street and was opened in 1905.  The building was designed by the Loughborough architects Barrowcliffe and Allcock in a flamboyant Baroque style with the façade to Granby Street constructed in red brick with terracotta embellishments.  The large half-round headed window in the centre of the main frontage is framed by two columns and a broken pediment (a Classical detail known as an aedicule).  Either side of this aedicule is a frieze with the lettering ‘Carnegie Library’ and within the pediment is a cartouche draped with swags of fruit and bearing the date ‘1905’.  At each of the corners of the front elevation is a turret in terracotta and the ground floor supports an octagonal drum with a slate roof that rises to a wooden lantern.  

12.7 The CLASP frame extension that was added to the library in 1966 has a simple modern design of alternating glazed panels with red mathematical tiles that does not compete with the earlier Carnegie Library and provides an attractive backdrop to the Park.

12.8 The Congregational Chapel (now the United Reform Church) moved to this site from Ashby Square in 1908.  The Chapel was designed by the Loughborough architects Barrowcliffe and Allcock in a free Gothic style and built by William Moss.  The foundation stone was laid in December 1907 and the building opened in July 1908.  It is constructed in red brick with distinctive stepped buttresses along the main facades and a new concrete tile roof.  The building is split between the sanctuary, distinguished by its narrow leaded windows with stone cills and lintels, and the church hall, with its larger window openings with brick arches and cills.  The most impressive architectural feature however is the splayed tower on the corner of Frederick Street and Heathcoat Street that rises above the building to a tiled cap and is a distinctive landmark.

12.9 The last significant building to be built in the Area, and at four storeys one of the tallest, is the former Loughborough College of Technology building on the corner of Packe Street and Frederick Street, now the University’s School of Art and Design.  It was built in two phases that were opened together in January 1937.  The first section to be built was the double height generating hall on Packe Street.  This was built around two diesel engines salvaged from German warships following the First World War that were used to generate electricity for the College, which was housed in a number of buildings in the locality.  Work began on this building in 1934.  To accommodate further expansion of the College, a new four story block on the Frederick Street corner was also planned.  This was built to house, on the ground floor, the automobile workshops of which the bays to Frederick Street were originally open but have subsequently been filled in; a hosiery laboratory on the first floor; a conditioning house and drawing office on the second floor and the teachers’ training handicraft shop on the upper floor.  The building is built in a ‘panel and pier’ style with red brick piers rising the full height of the building. Set within the intervening panels are large metal frame windows with tilt and turn opening lights with brick infill below the windows.
13  Traditional Building Materials

13.1 Building materials in the Area are drawn from a relatively small palette of materials, principally smooth red brick and Welsh slate which is typical of buildings from the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.  This results in a pleasing, consistent appearance within the Conservation Area and contributes to a sense of place.  The brick is predominantly laid in a distinctive Flemish bond and this is particularly evident within the Edwardian terraced streets. The red brick is also frequently paired with white stone dressings, which is a typical Edwardian detail.  Not all roofs are covered in Welsh slate however.  Some of the earlier buildings (nos. 57-59 Ward’s End for example) are covered in Swithland slate, which is traditionally laid in diminishing courses, and plain clay tiles are also used on Granby Street.  

13.2 Other external finishes include roughcast render, which appears at first floor level in some terraced properties and is a reflection of the ‘Arts and Crafts’ influence on Edwardian architecture, and stone is used as a decorative rather than principal building material.  Ashlar stone is used to good effect in the construction of the bay windows at nos. 22 & 24 Frederick Street, and stone is used elsewhere to provide decorative details such as in the lintels, cills and mullions to windows and doors and in some cases to provide horizontal coursing in brickwork (for example in Caldwell Street). 

13.3 Concrete roof tiles are common having been used to re-roof many of the terraced houses.  However these look out of place and are visually intrusive, disrupting the original visual coherence of the terraced streets.

13.4 Terracotta is used to provide embellishment and detailing.  Whilst it is used sparingly in the domestic properties, normally to provide keystones to arches or coping on gate posts or along the wall at the rear of the bowling green, it is widely used in the grand public buildings.  The finest example is the Carnegie Library where all the Classical detailing and embellishment is made from terracotta.

13.5 Timber was traditionally used for windows and doors.  The survival of a number of Victorian timber shop fronts is a particular feature of Ward’s End.  Whilst changes have been made, particularly with the installation of new fascia panels, many shop fronts still retain their original stallrisers, pilasters and console brackets and these contribute to the historic character of the Area.

13.6 In many cases, the terraced properties have retained their original timber sash windows and panelled doors. There are also rare surviving examples of Yorkshire (horizontal) sliding sash windows in the Orange Tree, a building which dates from the Georgian period. These original windows and doors provide a strong vertical emphasis to the properties in contrast to the horizontal linearity of the terraced streets.

13.7 Timber is used to provide decorative mock-timber framing within the gables of properties on Granby Street for example and is a reflection of the ‘Arts and Crafts’ influence in Edwardian architecture.

13.8 Some houses have their front doors set back within a storm porch and many of these porches retain their original encaustic floor tiles and glazed wall tiles. 

13.9 The Area contains a lot of ironwork, either in the form of low wrought iron railings around the balconies at nos. 35 & 37 Granby Street or as boundary railings to the Park.

14  Local Details 

14.1 The collective value and the wealth and variety of surviving architectural details of the Edwardian housing makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the Area.  The architecture and detailing of these houses reflects their original quality and status, much of which was only made possible by the advent of mass production in building materials, and exemplifies the style of Edwardian architecture. 

14.2 The bay windows are probably the most prominent feature of these houses and they display a whole range of details.  The bays take two basic shapes, either as box-bays, which are the most common (seen on Frederick Street, Curzon Street and the southern side of Arthur Street), or as canted bays (seen on the southern side of Caldwell Street and Arthur Street).  The bay windows can have either a flat roof (as seen on William Street, Frederick Street and the north side of Curzon Street) or a pitched roof (seen on Heathcoat Street, the southern side of Curzon Street and the west side of William Street).  In most cases, the bay is restricted to the ground floor but they can extend to the first floor and be finished with either a gable (as seen on the west side of William Street) or a hipped roof (as seen on Frederick Street and the north side of Arthur Street).  On Granby Street (nos. 37 and 39) the two storey bays have a flat roof surrounded by a parapet wall with decorative railings.

14.3 As well as varying in their basic shape, the architectural detailing in the timber framing (the mullion posts and cornice) of the bay windows offers a variety of ornate styles often based on Classical details.  Decorative pilasters applied to the mullion posts have a base and a capital with support brackets which in turn carry the cornice across the length of the bay which may be decorated with either dentils or modillions  (as seen at Frederick Street, Heathcoat Street, the north side of Caldwell Street and the west side of William Street).   

14.4 Further variation is provided by extending the roof of the bays between paired terraced properties to form an open porch.  The extended roof is typically supported by a timber post and a pair of upward braces in an ‘Arts and Crafts’ style (such as 19-23 Granby Street and the upper end of Arthur Street).  

14.5 The windows within the bays show a variation of styles.  Predominantly the bays have sash windows although there are examples of casement windows with leaded and coloured glass top-lights (such as 19-23 Granby Street).  The sash frames are constructed with horns, added to strengthen the frame, with pairs of single pane sashes being the most common window style (such as at Arthur Street and William Street).  However, a common variation of this style is the use of a multi pane windows in the upper sash, usually associated with a concave meeting rail (such as at 10 & 12 and 5 & 7 Caldwell Street).

14.6 First floor windows show similar variations.  The arrangement and number of the first floor windows depends on the width of the property.  The most common arrangement is a single pair of sash windows (such as the north side of Caldwell Street and on Curzon Street).  However, in those properties with a wider frontage, a further single sash window is installed above the entrance door adjacent to the paired sashes (such as at 19 – 25 Granby Street, Frederick Street, south side of Heathcoat Street and 6 & 8 Caldwell St).

14.7 The paired sash windows are separated by a mullion (although there are, unfortunately, examples of this being knocked out where new windows have been fitted).  The mullion can be constructed of brick (as at Caldwell Street and William Street) or more elaborately of a stone pillar with a carved base and capital or a chamfered stone pillar (as at Curzon Street, where both examples can be seen, and Arthur Street).

14.8 The surviving original front doors also show variety in their design.  Most of the doors provide a combination of solid timber panels in the lower half of the door with glazed panels in the upper half to let light into the hall.  To allow more light into the hall many of the doorways have glazed fanlights and glazed side panels.  Some doors can be solid timber with different arrangements of five or six panels.

14.9 Several houses contain attractive leaded glass in the frames of both their doors and windows.  The style is copied from the Scottish designer Charles Rennie Mackintosh and was very popular in Edwardian domestic architecture. These leaded glass windows provide a unique Loughborough example of art work in the Mackintosh style. 

14.10 The arches over the doors and windows vary, ranging from flat arches, often with a lower chamfered arris (as at Arthur Street and Heathcoat Street); to round arches, usually springing from a pair of terracotta blocks with a central keystone (as at Heathcoat Street and Arthur Street); or pointed Gothic arches (as at Caldwell Street and Heathcoat Street).

14.11 In the more prestigious houses the front doors were very often set back within a storm porch and within these porches there are surviving examples of the original glazed wall tiles, with distinctive skirting, friezes and decorated panels, and encaustic floor tiles, laid in a geometric patterns (as seen in Frederick Street and the south side of Arthur Street).

14.12 Decoration is also provided in the form of special shaped bricks which are used to provide string courses, typical patterns include a Greek key (such as at Heathcoat Street and the south side of Caldwell Street) or Egg and Dart (such as at north side of Heathcoat Street) and ornate dentil courses or corbelling brackets under the eaves.

14.13 Most of the terraced properties retain their chimney stacks, shared between pairs of properties and containing up to eight pots on each stack.  The actual pots show a great variety of styles with crown pots, fluted pots, round tapered pots and square pots being the most common.

14.14 In the commercial area around Ward’s End, the most important surviving local details are the Victorian shop fronts and the original horizontal sliding sash windows of the Orange Tree public house.  Whilst many of these shop fronts have been altered, there are good surviving elements of pilasters and console brackets.

15  The Public Realm

15.1 Within the public realm the streets themselves have lost their traditional paving materials. They have been replaced by tarmac pavements and roads and concrete kerbstones.  One of the few surviving elements of traditional surfacing materials are the granite setts that form the gutters along New Street.

15.2 Public art is represented in the Area in the form of ‘Pinau’, the boy with a thorn in his foot, that sits in its own space in front of the main library building.  The statue was presented to Loughborough, in friendship, in May 1957 by its twin town of Epinal. In Queen’s Park there is a stone carving of a swan, sculpted in 1992 by David Tarver, under an ornamental open wrought iron Gazebo, and there are modern stainless steel railings with decorative panels to the ramps and steps of the Museum. 

15.3 Queen’s Park contains two memorial stones of Mountsorrel granite: one by the New Street entrance with a small flagstaff commemorating 75 years of the Royal British Legion, the other near the bandstand inscribed to the victims of genocide.

15.4 Queen’s Park is the most important and extensive element of the public realm.  The boundary to the Park retains its original gates and railings along the Granby Street frontage and the rustic wooden fence and hedgerow along Brown’s Lane.  These are of historic importance and make a positive visual contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

15.5 Within the Park there is no evidence of the original surface treatment or edgings, these having been replaced by tarmac paths with concrete edgings.  New blue metal fencing has also been erected around the two children’s play areas.  This fencing is a rather discordant feature in the Park, with little regard for its historic setting or the wider landscape and is a marked contrast to the traditional green railings.

15.6 Most of the terraced houses in the Area have small front gardens, and whilst these offer little in terms of planting, the front boundary walls built in brick to match the house and relatively simple in form and detailing provide a distinctive linear edge between the public and semi-private space.

16  Green Spaces, Trees and Hedges 

16.1 Queen’s Park is at the heart of the Conservation Area and provides the only green, open space in the Area and it provides an important and attractive recreational area in the centre of town and a natural habitat for a range of wildlife.  The Radmoor Recreation Ground, which lies outside of the Conservation Area, also provides a valuable open space for the residents of the Area.

16.2 Outside of the Park, the only mature trees of any note are the street trees along New Street, Granby Street and Frederick Street which contribute to the amenities of the area and offer some relief from the surrounding built development.

17  Intrusions and Damage

17.1 The terraced houses when first built were given high quality fittings and detailing that added a subtle variety, but did not detract from, the appearance of the terraced streets.

17.2 A great deal of small scale damage has been done by the replacement of doors and windows, often with upvc frames that have no similarities to the style or design of the original features.  This damage has been made worse in some cases by the removal of the mullion post within the bay windows and the chopping out of stone mullions between the pairs of first floor windows.

17.3 Many of the new first floor windows are set closer to the face of the property, losing the depth of the reveal and reducing the visual impact of the mullion.

17.4 Re-roofing has been carried out with modern concrete tiles that are visually intrusive and roof lights have been inserted, although these do not have such a significant visual impact and are preferable to dormer extensions which could have a significant disruptive impact on the roof slopes, particularly those facing onto the streets.

17.5 In some places boundary walls or hedges have been removed leaving an untidy edge between front garden and street. There are also instances where the wall or hedge has been replaced with a modern though less attractive wall or occasionally with a metal railing or fence.

17.6 In the more commercial areas around Ward’s End, many of the shops retain remnants of their original Victorian timber fronts. The installation of modern signage often in the fascia into these traditional shop fronts is a particular problem: discordant visual feature that results in the loss of valuable historic fabric.

17.7 Whilst it is desirable to encourage the use of the upper floors above the shops, the replacement of windows with new windows that do not respect the design of the original or the building as a whole, has had a particularly damaging effect on the visual appearance of the Area. 

17.8 Within the public realm the greatest damage to the overall appearance of the Area is the visual clutter from the variety and number of road signs and other street furniture.

17.9 In particular Bedford Square is dominated by cars moving through onto Woodgate or into the town centre along Ward’s End and the Cattle Market and its integrity as a public space has all but been destroyed by the main road that passes through it.  The surrounding buildings on the north and west sides provide a sense of enclosure and scale but on the south side the scale is poor and there is no enclosure on the east side.

18  Neutral areas

18.1 The Area has few areas that are not within the immediate public domain. However two areas are relatively hidden away and make little contribution to the Conservation Area.

18.2 The first is the car park at the rear of Ward’s End and Devonshire Square.  This is locked between Queen’s Park and the frontage development to Ward’s End.  It is not a particularly pleasant environment but it is tucked away and visually makes little impact on the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. Nevertheless, it is a poor use of land in the town centre, particularly at the southern end where there is a path into the park beside a poor brick structure which houses a store and unused public toilets.

18.3 The second area is Packe Street.  This is not a principal thoroughfare in the Conservation Area, and once beyond the College building is fronted by the rear yards and outbuildings of the principal properties fronting Granby Street and Market Street.

19  General Condition

19.1 On the whole this is a vibrant and active commercial area and prosperous residential area.  Most of the buildings within it are in good condition and have a long term economic use.

19.2 However there are some marginal areas behind the frontage development to Ward’s End.  These buildings, whilst being some of the oldest in the Area, have a low economic or commercial value and many are in poor condition and at risk of further deterioration or possibly dereliction.  

20  Problems, Pressures and Capacity for Change

20.1 Given the intensive nature of the development within the Area, there appears little opportunity for significant change or redevelopment.  The prime area where there appears to be potential is the open car park to the rear of Ward’s End.  Any new development in this sensitive location should respect its location and the potential visual impact on the Conservation Area and the setting of Queen’s Park.

20.2
Queen’s Park has been laid out on the floodplain alongside the Woodbrook. This stream is often un-noticed between its canalised walls but it is the water source for the ponds and it should be remembered that there is still a risk of flooding. Relatively minor alterations to the landscape of the park could have major implications in time of flooding.

20.3 The Park itself is vulnerable to change and there is clear evidence of change that has taken place without respecting the historic landscape, the introduction of blue metal fencing around the two children’s play areas for example.  Overall, the importance as an historic landscape and the extent of surviving layout and design of the Park and associated historic fabric, needs to be recognised and any changes should take place in this context.

20.4 At the opposite end of the scale are problems associated with minor alterations or small incremental changes that take place sometimes without the need for planning permission.  In particular, the pressure for new shop fronts and signage fitted within the older shop fronts and potential changes to upper floor windows.  However, as these works require planning permission a degree of control can be exercised by the Council.  

20.5 Outside the Council’s immediate control are the changes to domestic properties that take place as permitted development. These often minor changes can over time result in the irreversible loss of historic building fabric that diminishes the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  To control such changes there is the opportunity for the Council to consider the introduction of an Article 4 Direction.

20.6 Further pressures for change are being brought about by changes in the housing tenure due to the decline of the private owner and the increase in private rented accommodation by landlords.  This change brings with it problems of extensions and alterations, such as dormer windows and rear extensions that are designed to maximise the occupancy of the properties without considering their impact on the appearance of the Conservation Area, as well as more general problems associated with the general upkeep of the properties and the overall balance of the local community.
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